RECEIVED

Jan 16 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Dale Van Slambrook, Master in Equity

Case No.: 2023-CP-0801531
Appellate Case No.: 2024-000867

Michael L. Woods,

Appellant

vs.

Wyman Jean Woods, Jr., Trustee of the Wyman and
Marguerite Woods Family Trust utd 01/16/98,

Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

/s/ Andrew T. Shepherd

Andrew T. Shepherd
Shepherd Law Firm, LLC
204 Brighton Park Blvd., Suite B
Summerville, SC 29486
(843) 900-3575
andrew@sheplawfirm.com
S.C. Bar No.: 76859

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court err by affirming the Probate Court's ruling that Bank of America accounts titled jointly between Appellant and the Decedent constituted assets of the Decedent's Trust?
- II. Did the Circuit Court err by affirming the Probate Court's ruling that the Respondent's counterclaims for setoff to the Appellant's Trust Distribution for sums the Appellant received from Bank of America accounts titled jointly between Decedent and Appellant were claims that belonged to the Decedent's Trust?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was originally heard at the trial level by the Berkeley County Probate Court on November 8, 2022, and the Final Order of the Probate Judge was entered April 17, 2023. The Probate Judge denied the Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, and the case was appealed to the Court of Common Pleas pursuant to §62-1-308, S.C. Code Ann. The matter was subsequently referred to the Master in Equity for adjudication and to enter final judgment on the appeal. By consent of the parties, the Master in Equity considered the appeal on the Briefs without oral argument, and the parties further stipulated to the contents of the Record. On April 26, 2024, the Master in Equity entered an Order affirming the decision of the Probate Court. Appellant now appeals to the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

The subject matter of the controversy giving rise to these proceedings is the Wyman and Marguerite Woods Family Trust utd 01/16/98 ("Trust") (R.pp. 374-424), which is a trust established by the parties' parents in 1998 and later twice amended. At trial, the Appellant and Respondent agreed that they are bound by the trust instrument, as amended, and its terms are not in dispute. The parties' disagreement is primarily about money and what each is entitled to receive. Their inability to come to a meeting of the minds stems from a serious difference of opinion as to the Respondent Trustee's accounting of trust funds and the methodology used by the Respondent

Trustee to construct a proposal for distribution, particularly as it related to certain in-kind allocations to the Appellant and values assigned to them, as well as whether certain other monies received by the Appellant should be considered in the calculations regarding final distributions and deemed an advance to him from trust assets.

The case commenced with the filing of a Summons and Petition by the Appellant, Michael L. Woods (“Michael”), for Judicial Settlement of Trustee Accounting, wherein Michael sought the Probate Court’s review of a proposed final distribution and accounting provided by the Respondent, Wyman Jean Woods, Jr., (“Jean”) as Trustee of the Trust, and a directive from the Court as to how distributions should be made. (R.pp. 11-36). Jean, as Trustee, Answered the Petition and Counterclaimed for a declaratory judgment as to the relative rights and relations of the parties generally and specifically as it relates to monies Jean alleged were owned by the Trust, but which he claimed were appropriated by Michael for his personal use from certain Bank of America accounts. (R.pp. 37-120).

On April 17, 2023, the Probate Judge entered his Final Order wherein the Probate Court (i) accepted an interim accounting and an amended proposal for distribution that Jean had produced at trial, (ii) declared that certain multi-party Bank of America accounts held by Michael and Wyman Jean Woods, Sr. (“Decedent”) were assets of the Trust, (iii) directed calculation of certain offsets from Michael’s Trust distribution commensurate with funds he received from the multi-party Bank of America accounts while Decedent was living, (iv) directed distribution of the sums then due and owing to Michael pursuant to the Judge’s findings and conclusions, and (v) declared an amount of the “all in” total distribution that both Jean and Michael were due from the Trust by virtue of the Court’s findings and the added inclusion of certain sums from the Bank of America accounts Michael received prior to Decedent’s death. (R.pp. 1-9).

On April 27, 2023, Michael served a Motion pursuant to Rules 52 and 59, SCRCP, to Alter or Amend or for New Trial wherein he requested the Probate Court to withdraw, reconsider, or alter or amend findings of fact and conclusions of law (i) that the multi-party Bank of America accounts held by Michael and the Decedent constituted trust assets, and (ii) that there was no evidence of any intent by Decedent to change his absolute ownership of all monies in said accounts. (R.pp. 121-125). Michael's Motion further requested the Court reconsider or otherwise rule upon Michael's arguments that Jean's counterclaim regarding the Bank of America accounts constituted claims that would have to be brought by an Estate of the Decedent and not by Jean as either Trustee of the Trust or individually. Jean served his Return to Michael's Motion to Alter or Amend on May 16, 2023 (R.pp 126-136), after which the Probate Court entered its Order on May 23, 2023, dismissing Michael's Motion without hearing (R.p. 10). On appeal to the Court of Common Pleas, and following reference to the Master in Equity, the Master in Equity entered an Order affirming the Order of the Circuit Court. (R.pp. 1402-1416).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“If the proceeding in the probate court is in the nature of an action at law, the [appellate] court may not disturb the probate court's findings of fact unless a review of the record discloses there is no evidence to support them.” *Howard v. Mutz*, 315 S.C. 356, 361, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257 (1993). “On the other hand, if the probate proceeding is equitable in nature, the [appellate] court, on appeal, may make factual findings according to its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Id.* at 361-62, 434 S.E.2d at 257-58. To make this determination, the appellate court must look to the essential character of the cause of action alleged by the petitioner in the court below. *Dean v. Kilgore*, 313 S.C. 257, 437 S.E.2d 154 (Ct.App. 1993). If the essential character of the petitioner's cause of action is grounded on equitable rights and equitable relief is sought,

the case is regarded as equitable and the appellate court has jurisdiction to make findings in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Eagles v. South Carolina Nat'l Bank*, 301 S.C. 402, 408 392 S.E.2d 187, 191 (Ct.App. 1990).

The essential character of Michael's cause of action is an action for an accounting. An action for accounting lies in equity and seeks a calculation and judgment of the account balances between the parties. *Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon*, 381 S.C. 417, 427, 673 S.E.2d 448, 453 (2009). Accordingly, the Master in Equity applied the *de novo* standard of review, which standard also applies on appeal to the Court of Appeals.

ARGUMENT

I. The multi-party Bank of America accounts established between the Decedent and Michael did not constitute assets of the Trust for which any sums Michael withdrew from the account(s) while Decedent was living should be offset from Michael's final Trust distribution after the Decedent's death.

On January 16, 1998, the Decedent and his wife, Margeurite, executed the Wyman and Marguerite Woods Family Trust. As cited by the Probate Court's Final Order, Article Three of the Trust described assets the Decedent and his wife intended to transfer or assign into their trust at that time:

After this trust is duly executed, we will execute and deliver all deeds, assignments, bills of sale, written instructions and other legal documents necessary to convey and register all of our assets that we choose to place in trust under this trust to be owned by the trustee(s) of this trust and held and administered under the terms and conditions of this trust. Assets which are evidenced by titles or deeds currently being transferred to the trustee(s) of this trust are listed on Schedule A, which is attached to this trust and made a part of this trust. We hereby transfer to this trust all assets not requiring titles or deeds, including but not limited to our furniture, wearing apparel, and personal possessions. Additionally, the grantor(s) are now holding and will hold, solely and exclusively for and on behalf of such trust, the following: any and all properties of all kinds, whether presently owned or hereafter acquired including, without limitation:

bank accounts, certificates of deposit, mutual and money market funds of all kinds, securities, agency and custody accounts, notes, and real estate wherever located.

All such property is hereby transferred to and the same shall be owned by such trust.

This declaration shall apply even though record ownership or title, in some instances, may, presently or in the future, be registered in the individual name or names of either of us, in which event such record ownership shall hereafter be deemed held in trust even though such trusteeship remains undisclosed.

All assets transferred to the trustee(s) of this trust, whether now or at a later date, shall become part of the trust estate and be subject to all terms and provisions of this trust document.

(R.pp. 3-4; R.p. 391)

Following trial, the Probate Court concluded that certain Bank of America accounts which the Decedent established between himself and Michael as joint, multi-party accounts on January 30, 2017, still remained solely the assets of the Decedent during his lifetime, and thus constituted assets of the Trust pursuant to the general and blanket declaration cited above. (R.p. 8). The trial court held that there was no evidence before it of any intent by the Decedent to change his absolute ownership of all monies within the Bank of America accounts during his lifetime in proportion to the Decedent's contributions. (R.p. 8). As a result, the trial court concluded that monies Michael received from the joint Bank of America accounts during the Decedent's lifetime were chargeable as a set-off to his final distributive share from the Trust. (R.p. 8). On appeal, the Master in Equity agreed with the Probate Court and adopted the Findings of the Probate Court, including the finding that there was "no evidence . . . of an intent by Wyman Woods to change his absolute ownership of all monies within the Bank of America accounts during his lifetime in proportion to the Decedent's contributions, which was 100%." (R.pp. 1407-1408).

Michael contends, however, that the Record before the court is replete with evidence of actions by the Decedent and various circumstances attendant thereto that are indicative of an intent

to possess the accounts in a form and manner that, contractually and operatively, resulted in their removal from the Trust's purview. Chief among this body of evidence are the express contractual terms that governed ownership of the accounts between the Decedent and Michael, as well as their respective entitlement to payments therefrom. When the express contractual terms and declarations made by the Decedent on January 30, 2017 when he established the joint accounts at issue are considered in conjunction with the entire body of evidence—particularly the circumstances surrounding the creation of the accounts and the dynamics of the familial relationship which led to the initiation of this lawsuit—the trial court's findings and conclusions regarding the Decedent's intent and the ownership of those accounts, and the Master's affirmation of the same, are respectfully in error.

A. Michael's objection to the Trustee's accounting was the genesis of the Trustee's sudden desire to qualify and include joint Bank of America accounts as Trust assets, diverting attention from the erroneous and self-serving distribution scheme he initially wanted to impose upon Michael, and clouding the full body evidence of Decedent's actual intent and contractual arrangements.

Following the deaths of both the Decedent and Marguerite, the Trust—as twice amended—directed the outright equal distribution of all trust assets between Michael and Jean. Jean is the Trustee of the Trust. Through a cover letter from his attorney dated October 26, 2020, Jean provided an accounting cover sheet/proposal for distribution, along with various other documents in support of his calculations. (R.pp. 44-120). As more fully outlined in Michael's objection letter (R.pp. 24-26) and in his Petition to the Probate Court (R.pp. 11-38), Michael claimed that Jean's accounting and proposal for distribution employed an erroneous and improper method of calculation that amounted to a “double-dip” that resulted in the value of Jean's total distribution being \$71,000.00 more than the total value of both the cash and in-kind distributions that Jean proposed and elected to assign solely unto Michael. (R.pp. 136-138).

Of the in-kind distributions that Jean elected to place solely in Michael's distribution column, one item was a nearly twenty-year-old promissory note from 2011 (the "Ferira Note") to which Jean assigned the note's original face value of \$50,000.00 as a reduction to Michael's cash distribution. (R.pp. 87-88). Through counsel, Michael objected to not only his brother's disparate method of calculation, but also to the values Jean assigned to the various in-kind distributions, including whether the Ferira Note was even an asset capable of collection. (R.pp. 24-26). Jean's response to Michael's objections resulted in only a slight concession of \$4,856.44 to the valuation Jean was willing to assign to certain chattels. (R.pp. 30-32). Jean's reply unabashedly refused to acknowledge any form of error in the unbalanced method of calculation that had been brought to his attention and made no concessions regarding the Ferira Note. (R.pp. 30-32).

As a result of Michael's November 2020 objection to the proposed accounting and distribution, Jean retained Michael's share in the Trust. However, from October 2020 through the date of trial on November 8, 2022, Jean proceeded to distribute to himself at least \$702,917.32. (R.p. 327, line 25 – p. 328, line 7; p. 344, line 15 – p. 346, line 19).¹ With his objections to the accounting uncorrected and his share of the Trust being withheld, Michael ultimately filed his petition with the Probate Court seeking judicial review, direction, and instruction regarding the Trustee's accounting and how distributions should be made. Jean answered the petition counterclaiming, *inter alia*, that "there were bank accounts belonging to Wyman J. Woods, Sr. funded with monies of [Wyman J. Woods, Sr.] which were declared and intended to be trust assets pursuant to the terms and provisions of the trust, as amended, which assets were accessed by [Michael] and appropriated and spent for his personal uses and purposes, without permission of authority" and that Michael should be made to account for the same. (R.p. 41). Jean's

¹ It was not until entry of a consent order in March 2022 that Michael eventually received a partial distribution of \$200,000.00 pending final trial. (R.p. 323, line 22 – p. 324, line 3).

counterclaim was the first time Jean had actually claimed that any such funds or accounts constituted property of the actual Trust itself. Although Jean's letter rebuffing Michael's initial objections to the accounting did allude to funds which Jean alleged had passed through Michael's hands, and that Jean knew \$124,000.00 was in the Decedent's checking account when Michael was named as the Decedent's agent under durable power of attorney, he did not claim they were funds of the Trust. (R.pp. 32-34).

The Record is clear that although Jean's initial Trust accounting and proposal for distribution raised no claim to any such funds or attempted to qualify such funds or accounts as belonging to the Trust, and although Jean had been a sole or co-Trustee since at least 2012 through the *entire* period of the joint account's existence without making any actual claim or assertion of control or ownership of the account as Trustee², Jean suddenly wanted the Decedent and Michael's joint Bank of America accounts to constitute Trust assets now that his incorrect accounting methods were called into question and would not result in the "double-dip" cash windfall he had wanted. (R.p. 340, line 5 – p. 342, line 8). Jean testified his only reason for not pursuing a claim to the Bank of America funds any earlier than his 2021 counterclaim was that Jean simply did not want to sue his brother and he did not feel he had sufficient knowledge of the Bank of America accounts or how those funds were being used in order to make such a claim. (R.p. 302, line 6 – p. 306, line 23; R.p. 342, line 24 -p. 344, line 14).

Jean's professed ignorance of the accounts, however, squarely contradicts the contents of his December 2020 reply to Michael's accounting objections wherein Jean expressly claimed knowledge that the Decedent's Bank of America account held at least \$124,000.00 when Jean alleged Michael became the Decedent's agent under power of attorney in 2017. Jean's letter also

² (R.p. 342, line 24 – p. 344, line 21; R.p. 346, line 21 – p. 347, line 12).

further claimed that at least \$450,000.00 “passed through [Michael’s] hands over the last 44 months.” (R.p. 33). This evidence reflects Jean clearly knew of significant funds passing through the Bank of America accounts, yet he still did not qualify or claim those funds as assets of the Trust or even bother to investigate the same until his self-serving accounting was going to be subjected to court review.

Rather, Jean’s only prior interest in the accounts came through a letter from his attorney dated December 26, 2019, wherein Jean asked for an itemized accounting of all receipts and disbursements made by Michael as the Decedent’s agent on behalf of the Decedent from the date of April 18, 2017 to present—with the date of April 18, 2017 representing the date the Decedent appointed Michael as his agent under power of attorney. (R.p. 1287). Jean’s request for that information, however, was only made in response to a letter from an attorney that Michael had hired to request, in part, an accounting from Jean and production of other information as to Jean’s activities involving the sale of trust assets. (R.pp. 1285-1286). Notably, at the time of Michael’s letter to Jean, Michael was not even aware that Jean was the sole acting Trustee of the Trust and that Jean had been the sole acting Trustee for quite some time. (R.p. 219, line 25 – p. 221, line 5).

Although the December 2019 letters between Michael and Jean requested certain accounting information referencing their respective fiduciary or agency capacities, those requests were only made approximately six months preceding the Decedent’s death in June 2020. Neither Jean nor Michael provided the requested information to the other at that time, and no such competing requests or demands had ever been made in the years preceding. Again, it was not until Michael sought court review of Jean’s clearly erroneous double-dip accounting method and the perceived inequities of assigning all questionably valued in-kind distributions to Michael’s

distribution column that Jean looked to other accounts and funds that the Decedent and Michael had maintained outside of the Trust for years. (R.p. 342, line 24 – p. 347, line 5).

By trying to lay a trust claim upon funds passing through the Bank of America account held jointly between the Decedent and Michael, Jean was able to obfuscate the glaring accounting inequities he had initially attempted to foist upon his brother, ultimately delaying distributions to Michael for nearly two years while otherwise distributing to himself and enjoying \$702,000.00 free from the trust. The obfuscation worked, and the trial court set aside the errors and inequities of Jean's initial accounting without any comment as to the impropriety of his attempted double-dip and his unwavering insistence to assign the Ferira Note to Michael. Notably, the trial court's conclusion to include the Bank of America funds as Trust assets, and affirmed by the Master, nearly equaled the total cash sum Jean had originally tried to deduct from Michael's final distribution and add to his own under the initial and erroneous accounting method. Michael respectfully contends that the trial court's findings and conclusions, as affirmed by the Master, regarding funds of the multi-party accounts that he held with his father are in error on the basis the accounts and the funds therein constituted the joint property of both Michael and his father to which they held joint entitlement to withdraw by virtue of the plain language of their contractual agreement with Bank of America.

B. There exists clear and convincing evidence of intent that the Bank of America multi-party account(s) were not funds of the Trust and that funds were intended to be owned by both the Decedent and Michael, regardless of source.

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