RECEIVED

Sep 30 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Commons Pleas

Hon. Dale E. Van Slambrook, Master In Equity

Case No. 2023-CP-08-1531
Appellate Case No.: 2024-000867

Michael L. Woods.....Appellant

vs.

Wyman Jean Woods, Jr., Trustee of the Wyman and
Marguerite Woods Family Trust utd 01/16/98..... Respondent

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John Samuel West
Bar No. 6035
West Law Firm, PA
207 Carolina Avenue
PO Box 1869
Moncks Corner, SC 29461
843-761-5626 (Telephone)
843-761-5627 (Fax)
Jwestlaw@HomeSC.com
Attorneys for the Respondent

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE ISSUES ASSERTED BY APPELLANT SHOULD BE DEEMED ABANDONED AND SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED ON APPEAL BECAUSE THE ARGUMENT RAISED IN APPELLANT’S BRIEF WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY AUTHORITY.

Appellant struggles to cite and does not cite any authority to support his position. He strains credulity by arguing what he wants the law to be, not what the law is—that in his view the BOA signature card trumps the entire body of evidence confirming that at all times the BOA money belonged to the Trust.

"An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority." *Estate of Combis v. Combis*, 439 S.C. 485, 499, 888 S.E.2d 1, 8 (2023) (citing *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. 354, 363, 714 S.E.2d 554, 558 (2011)). *See also Bryson v. Bryson*, 378 S.C. 502, 510, 662 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2008) (same). "South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review." *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (2001). "When an appellant provides no legal authority regarding a particular argument, the argument is abandoned and the court can decline to address

the merits of the issue.” *Mead v. Beaufort Cnty. Assessor*, 419 S.C. 125, 139, 796 S.E.2d 165, 172-73 (2016) (citing *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. 354, 363 (2011)).

In *Combis*, Appellants, in their brief, “make short, conclusory statements concerning the circuit court's alleged error—asserting simply, “Clearly, this was error”—and fail to cite to any relevant legal authority in support of their argument. *Estate of Combis*, 439 S.C. at 499, 888 S.E.2d 1, 8 (2003). There, Appellants cite one case in support of their argument, which the Court of Appeals found to be “irrelevant.” *Id.* Therefore, the court found that “Appellants’ arguments [were] abandoned on appeal and decline[d] to address the merits of [the] issue.” *Id.*

Similarly, in *Mead v. Beaufort Cty. Assessor*, the Assessor asserted an argument that the Administrative Law Court’s order violated public policy. In his brief, the Appellant/Assessor “provided no case law on the issue, particularly no case law or other authority on public policy and what constitutes a violation of it.” *Id.* Accordingly, court found that “this issue [was] abandoned.” *Id.*

Likewise, in the present case, Appellant makes similar conclusory and self-serving statements that “the Signature Card Agreements themselves constitute clear and convincing evidence...” and that “when Decedent executed the new Signature Card Agreements with Bank of America, he altered the ownership of those accounts in a manner that removed them from the Trust’s purview....”. However, Appellant fails to cite any relevant authority in support of these conclusory statements. Appellant fails to cite any case law whatsoever on the subject of joint accounts except where Appellant unpersuasively attempts to distinguish the present case from *Vaughn v. Bernhardt*, 345 S.C. 196, 547 S.E.2d 869 (2001), a case cited by the Probate Court in its Final Order and affirmed by the Master.

Moreover, Appellant fails to cite any relevant authority regarding what constitutes clear and convincing evidence sufficient to rebut the statutory presumption of ownership under *S.C. Code Ann. § 62-6-103(a)*. Further, Appellant fails to cite any authority supporting his argument that execution of a standard signature card form for a joint account constitutes clear and convincing evidence that the parties contractually altered said statutory presumption of ownership, or that execution of a standard signature card form constitutes an *inter vivos* gift.

Instead, Appellant cites only the *Vaughn* case wherein the Court of Appeals specifically noted that it “does not address what evidence . . . could have [been] presented to overcome the presumption of ownership during the lifetime of the parties as established under section 62-6-103(a) [now section 62-6-201(A)]” (*Vaughn v. Bernhardt*, 339 S.C. 125, 132-33, 528 S.E.2d 82 (2000)), and simply declares, without authority, that the standard signature card forms constitute “express contractual declarations of joint ownership and entitlement to payments” sufficient to alter the statutory presumption of ownership, and that the Decedent’s previous execution and revocation of agency appointments constitute “corroborative evidence surrounding the Decedent’s clearly apparent knowledge and understanding of agency appointments. . . .”

The Probate Court and the Master each looked at the whole record and were not convinced that the presumption was overcome by Appellant.

Appellant further argues, also without citing any authority, that (1) the terms of the signature card forms constituted a contract of ownership and use between the Decedent, Appellant, and Bank of America; (2) the trial court’s conclusions result in the impermissible alteration of the terms of the contracts of account ownership and use; and (3) that the trial court’s order offsetting Appellant’s final trust distribution by \$115,124.17, the amount of funds Appellant withdrew from the Bank of America accounts prior to Decedent’s death, should be reversed.

Appellant concedes that the language in the signature card forms makes no distinction with regard to the proportionality of ownership of the funds in the accounts. The signature card forms state that, “[a] joint account with right of survivorship is the property of each co-owner and payable to either co-owner or to the surviving co-owner(s) if a co-owner dies” (ROA _____), but do not specify that the parties, as co-owners, share an “equal and undivided ownership” of all the funds in the accounts. *See* Reporters Comments, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-6-201. As the Court held in *Vaughn*, the statutory ownership presumption set forth in section 62-6-103(a) [now section 62-6-201(A)], is applicable to joint accounts with right of survivorship provisions and a joint owner of an account with right of survivorship who never contributed any funds to the account cannot claim ownership of funds he withdrew from the account during the lifetime of a deceased joint owner who was the sole contributor of funds to the account based on the right of survivorship provision of section 62-6-104(a). *Vaughn*, 345 S.C. at 199, 547 S.E.2d at 870.

Appellant fails to cite any authority to support his conclusion that application of the statutory presumption of ownership to funds held in the joint Bank of America accounts results in the impermissible alteration of terms of the contract between the bank and the owners of the joint accounts, where the contract does not include a provision that the account owners share an equal and undivided ownership interest in all of the account funds.

Accordingly, because Appellant has failed to provide any relevant legal authority regarding this particular argument, the argument should be deemed abandoned.

II. THE TWO LOWER COURT JUDGMENTS WITH REGARD TO THE TRUST’S OWNERSHIP OF THE FUNDS HELD IN THE BANK OF AMERICA ACCOUNTS DURING DECEDENT’S LIFETIME AND TO OFF-SET APPELLANT’S TRUST DISTRIBUTION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

Prominent before the Probate Court and the Master was the law on the subject of multi-party accounts. Significant to their analysis is *S.C. Code Ann. § 62-6-103*:

- (a) An account may be for a single party or multiple parties. A multiple-party account may be with or without a right of survivorship between the parties. Subject to *Section 62-6-202(c)*, either a single-party account or a multiple-party account may have a POD designation, an agency designation, or both.
- (b) An account established after January 1, 2014, whether in the form prescribed in *Section 62-6-104* or in any other form, is either a single-party account or a multiple-party account, with or without right of survivorship, and with or without a POD designation or an agency designation, within the meaning of this subpart, and is governed by this article.

With regard to multiple-party accounts, *S.C. Code Ann. § 62-6-201(A)* provides that “[d]uring the lifetime of all parties, an account belongs to the parties in proportion to the net contribution of each to the sums on deposit, unless there is clear and convincing evidence of a different intent.”² The Reporter’s Comments provide additional guidance with regard to the application of his statutory presumption and state in relevant part:

This section reflects the assumption that a person who deposits funds in an account normally does not intend to make an irrevocable gift of all or any part of the funds represented by the deposit. Rather, the person usually intends no present change of beneficial ownership. The section permits parties to accounts to be as definite, or as indefinite, as they wish in respect to the matter of how beneficial ownership should be apportioned between them.

Furthermore, accounts with right of survivorship provisions are often set up to allow caretakers to assist elderly people with the management of their finances. *Their financial protection can best be honored by adhering to the statutory presumption. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-6-201 (Reporter’s Comments)* (emphasis added).

² While there is no case law in South Carolina on the cited statute, the clear and convincing standard in other contexts is recognized to be a high burden of proof that requires the evidence to produce a firm belief or conviction in the mind of the trier of facts regarding the allegations sought to be established. The standard is higher than a preponderance of the evidence standard used in most civil cases, but lower than the beyond a reasonable doubt standard used in criminal cases. Overall, the clear and convincing evidence standard is a stringent requirement that necessitates a high level of proof on the allegations of the one having the burden of proof.

This statutory presumption regarding the proportional ownership of funds on deposit in a multiple-party account applies to joint accounts with right of survivorship provisions. *Vaughn*, 345 S.C. at 199, 547 S.E.2d at 870 (holding that “[b]ecause both parties to the Joint Accounts [with right of survivorship provisions] were still living at the time of the transfer, section 62-6-103(a) [now section 62-6-201(A)] dictates the funds removed by Bernhardt belonged to the Decedent at that time.”). Furthermore, the South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized that “accounts with right of survivorship provisions are often set up to allow caretakers to assist elderly people with the management of their finances. Their financial protection can best be honored by adhering to the statutory presumption.” *Id.* at 200, 547 S.E.2d at 871.

In *Vaughn*, the decedent held joint accounts with right of survivorship provisions, to which she was the sole contributor, with her nephew. *Id.* at 197, 547 S.E.2d 869. Prior to the decedent’s death, the nephew/joint account owner withdrew all of the funds from those accounts. *Id.* The South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed the Court of Appeals decision and held that, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-6-103(a) (now section 62-6-201(A)), all funds in the joint accounts belonged to the decedent/sole contributor, and the nephew/non-contributing joint account owner was not entitled to the funds he withdrew from the joint accounts during the decedent’s lifetime. *Id.* at 199, 547 S.E.2d 869, 870.

Likewise, in the present case, Decedent, the parties’ elderly father, held joint accounts with right of survivorship provisions, to which Decedent was the sole contributor, with Appellant. Prior to Decedent’s death, Appellant withdrew funds from those accounts for his own personal use. Accordingly, all funds held in the joint account belonged to the Decedent/sole contributor, and the Appellant/non-contributing joint account owner is not entitled to the funds he withdrew during Decedent’s lifetime.

The Court in *Vaughn* did not provide an analysis as to what additional evidence would constitute clear and convincing evidence sufficient to overcome the statutory presumption of ownership. In subsequent cases, South Carolina Courts have held that provisions in a will or evidence of a particular financial arrangement between joint account holders was sufficient evidence to alter the statutory presumption of ownership. *Kemp v. Rawlings*, 358 S.C. 28, 37, 594 S.E.2d 845, 850 (2004) (In his will, the decedent gave and bequeathed the joint account funds to the non-contributing joint account owner.); *Gordon v. Busbee*, 397 S.C. 119, 138 (Ct. App. 2012) (Evidence presented regarding a “financial ‘arrangement’ between [husband and wife joint account owners] [was] at least some other evidence of her intent that he have the monies in the joint account. The jury clearly believed the defense in the case, because it did not find against the estate as to any transfer or cause of action.”).

In the present case, the preponderance of the evidence presented supports the Probate Court’s decision which was affirmed by the Master. As previously set forth herein, Decedent maintained the Bank of America accounts for years prior to designating Appellant as a joint owner and it is undisputed that Decedent contributed 100% of the funds deposited in those accounts.

Respondent has always contended and two lower courts agreed that under the terms of the Trust, the money in the BOA accounts were Trust assets.

Appellant knows the BOA money was Trust money. He admitted at trial that the funds in the Bank of America accounts were Trust property. (ROA_____). He did so only after being confronted by the plain and unambiguous words of the Trust. Appellant was caught in an irreconcilable conflict on the witness stand. He knew that he could not on the one hand agree, which he did, that the all-encompassing language of the Trust controls and on the other hand argue that the Bank of America accounts were outside of the Trust.

On cross-examination of Appellant by Respondent's attorney at trial before the Probate Court, the following exchange occurred: (ROA_____).

Q:... if it's true, Mr. Woods, that your parent's intentions which you said was embodied in Plaintiff's Exhibit One [Trust], was that all of his money, all of his money, wherever it was and however it was titled, was all in the trust; I'm going to ask you whether or not you accept that as it relates to the Bank of America records?

A: As of today and what you have told me, what I've read yes..."

Q: Is it your understanding today that the Bank of America money which is reflected in—

A: I don't have an argument for that.

Q: You don't have an argument that's in the trust?

A: No.

Appellant also admitted he took money from the Bank of America accounts in the total amount \$115,124.17, for his own personal use (ROA_____). Further, Appellant admitted at trial that the accounts continued to be used for Trust purposes, including the payment of trust expenses, after he was designated as a joint account owner (ROA_____).

Even though at trial Appellant conceded the Bank of America monies were in the Trust, he argued in his brief before the Master and continues to argue that the standard signature cards executed by Decedent and Appellant in establishing the joint right of survivorship designations on the Bank of America Accounts constitute clear and convincing evidence that Decedent intended to alter the statutory presumption of ownership. Appellant concedes that the language in the signature card forms makes no distinction with regard to the proportionality of ownership of the funds in the accounts.

The signature card forms state that, "[a] joint account with right of survivorship is the property of each co-owner and payable to either co-owner or to the surviving co-owner(s) if a co-owner dies" (ROA_____), but do not specify that the parties, as co-owners, share an

“equal and undivided ownership” of all the funds in the accounts. See Reporters Comments, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-6-201.

As such, unlike a specific provision in a decedent’s will (*Kemp*, 538 S.C. at 37, 594 S.E.2d at 850) or evidence presented to a jury regarding a specific financial arrangement between joint account owners (*Gordon*, 397 S.C. at 138), the standard signature card forms required by the bank in the instant case, which contain no specific provision with regard to the proportional ownership of the funds on deposit, would not constitute clear and convincing evidence sufficient to alter the statutory presumption of ownership. This is especially true in light of all of the other evidence presented, as set forth above and as the record will clearly confirm.

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